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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
 

 
WONDERLAND SWITZERLAND AG 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
  v. 
 
EVENFLO COMPANY, INC. 
 
 
   Defendant. 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

 
 
 
 
Civil Action No. 18-1990-RGA 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Wonderland Switzerland AG (“Wonderland”) files this Second Amended 

Complaint for patent infringement against Defendant Evenflo Company, Inc. Wonderland 

alleges: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Wonderland is a corporation limited by share ownership (AG) duly organized and 

existing under the laws of Switzerland, having its principal place of business at Beim Bahnhof 5, 

6312 Steinhausen, Switzerland. 

2. On information and belief, Evenflo is a Delaware corporation having its principal 

place of business at 225 Byers Road, Miamisburg, Ohio 45342-3614. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the patent infringement claims set 

forth herein under at least 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a) because this action arises under the 

patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. 

4. This Court has both general and specific personal jurisdiction over Defendant 
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Evenflo because Evenflo is organized and incorporated under the laws of this state. On information 

and belief, Evenflo has also established minimum contacts with the forum state of Delaware, 

including in at least the following ways: (1) Evenflo owns and/or operates an interactive Internet 

website, www.evenflo.com, that is accessible to residents of Delaware, through which goods, 

including Evenflo’s EveryStage DLX All-in-One Car Seat (“EveryStage Car Seat”), accused of 

infringement herein, are advertised and sold, (2) on information and belief, Evenflo offers its 

goods and sells its goods to residents of Delaware, including its EveryStage Car Seat, accused of 

infringement herein, at least through online retailers such as Amazon.com. Thus, on information 

and belief, Evenflo has purposefully availed itself of the benefits of the state of Delaware and the 

exercise of jurisdiction by this Court is proper. 

5. Venue is proper in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b) because 

Defendant is incorporated in the State of Delaware and, on information and belief, has committed 

acts of infringement in this District. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Wonderland and Its Innovative Adjustable Car Seats 

6. Wonderland and its affiliates are leading innovators in juvenile products and have 

been for more than thirty years. Wonderland and its affiliates design, manufacture, and sell an 

assortment of products for children of all ages to keep children safe, including state-of-the-art 

child car seats, play yards, strollers, rockers, and high chairs. Wonderland’s innovations have 

generated over 270 patents in the U.S., and nearly 700 worldwide. 

7. Child car seats protect children during a car accident, but children quickly outgrow 

them. Buying new car seats can be a significant expense, and appreciating the inconvenience of 

having to purchase multiple car seats as a child grows, Wonderland and its affiliates improved 

child car seats so that they can be conveniently adjusted to accommodate a growing child, 
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including the conversion of its car seats into booster seats for older children. 

8. Wonderland’s inventions protected by the patents-in-suit allow adjustment and 

configuration of the head rest and harness on child car seats in one motion without complex and 

cumbersome modifications. Wonderland and its affiliates also developed and patented a harness 

storage system that allows storage of harness belts and buckles when using the car seat as a booster 

seat. These systems have proved superior to competing child car seats because of their innovative 

designs. 

Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat 

9. Defendant is in the business of manufacturing and selling juvenile products, 

including child car seats. On information and belief, Defendant introduced the EveryStage Car 

Seat in 2018, and has sold, and continues to sell, the EveryStage Car Seat online and in retail stores 

throughout the United States, including Delaware. 

10. The EveryStage Car Seat directly competes with child car seats of Wonderland and 

its affiliates as well as their customers who market well-known brands such as Graco, Nuna, and 

Joie. 

11. The Evenflo website touts the EveryStage Car Seat as “fully adjustable with up to 

10 different positions” for “an accurate fit for a growing child,” thus serving as a single car seat 

for every stage of the child’s development. See http://www.evenflo.com/car-

seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3. 

12. The head rest and harness adjustment system, the harness storage system, and the 

restraint harness assembly in the EveryStage Car Seat were previously invented, patented, and 

commercialized by Wonderland and its affiliates. Wonderland, its affiliates, and their customers 

have sold products using these features since 2011, long before Defendant introduced its 

EveryStage Car Seat. For example, Wonderland’s customer, Graco, sold the Nautilus, Nautilus 
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Snuglock, Nautilus True Shield, Milestone, 4Ever, 4Ever Extend2Fit, Extend2Fit Convertible, 

Extend2Fit All in One, Size4Me, and Smart Seat, each incorporating at least one of the patented 

systems. 

13. Evenflo announced its EveryStage Car Seat in 2018. A related Wonderland 

company, Joie, sold and continues to sell, a car seat similarly named “Every Stage” with a 

customizable head rest and support system “for an ultimate fit at every stage” of the child’s 

development. See https://www.joiebaby.com/product/every-stage/. The Joie “Every Stage” car 

seat adjusts the head rest and harness simultaneously without re-threading, and includes a 

hideaway compartment for storing the harness system when the child outgrows the 5-point 

harness. These features are protected by the patents at issue in this case. 

14. On information and belief, over two years after Joie released its Every Stage car 

seat, Defendant released its EveryStage Car Seat that not only uses a nearly-identical product 

name, but also the same Wonderland patented technology to provide the “every stage” 

functionality it touts to consumers. 

Wonderland’s Patents 

15. The United States Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”) issued U.S. Patent No. 

7,862,117, entitled “Head Rest and Harness Adjustment for Child Seat,” on January 4, 2011. A 

copy of the ’117 patent is attached as Exhibit A. 

16. The ’117 patent relates to a car seat for transporting children in an automobile, and 

to an apparatus in a car seat that can adjust the shoulder harness and head rest without requiring a 

substantial change in the length of the shoulder harness belt. See Exhibit A, 1:14-18. The 

innovative car seat design allows adjustments to the head rest to accommodate changes in a 

growing child without having to also adjust the length of the harness belt. See id., 2:47-56. 

17. The ’117 patent was originally assigned to Wonderland Nurserygoods Co., Ltd., 
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and that assignment was recorded with the PTO on December 9, 2007. The ’117 patent was 

assigned from Wonderland Nurserygoods Co., Ltd. to Wonderland Switzerland AG, and that 

assignment was recorded with the PTO on November 9, 2018. 

18. The ’117 patent includes four independent claims 1, 7, 9, and 15. Claim 9 is 

representative and recites: 

9. A car seat for transporting a child in an automobile and having a seat back on 
which a head rest is mounted for generally vertical movement relative to said seat 
back said seat back including harness belts positionable for support of the child 
within said car seat, comprising: 

said seat back being formed with a pair of laterally spaced openings 
therethrough; 

said head rest including a movable guide bar positioned in register with said 
openings and being vertically movable along said openings in 
response to a corresponding vertical movement of said head rest 
relative to said seat back, said movable guide bar member being 
operable to direct said harness belt through the openings in said seat 
back; 

a fixed guide bar mounted in said seat back above said openings; and 

said harness belts extending from an anchor point and being wrapped over 
said fixed guide bar and extending therefrom to said movable guide 
bar to be directed through said openings and extend forwardly of 
said seat back for engagement with the child in said car seat, such 
that the vertical movement of said movable guide bar redirects the 
positioning of the corresponding said harness belts. 

19. The PTO issued U.S. Patent No. 8,087,725, entitled “Head Rest and Harness 

Adjustment for Child Car Seat,” on January 3, 2012. A copy of the ’725 patent is attached as 

Exhibit B. 

20. The ’725 patent is a continuation of the ’117 patent. 

21. The ’725 patent was originally assigned to Wonderland Nurserygoods Co., Ltd., 

via the assignment of its parent ’117 patent recorded with the PTO on December 9, 2007. The 

’725 patent was further assigned from Wonderland Nurserygoods Co., Ltd. to Wonderland 
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Switzerland AG, and that assignment was recorded with the PTO on November 9, 2018. 

22. The ’725 patent has four independent claims 1, 8, 15, and 21. Claim 1 is 

representative and recites: 

1. A car seat for transporting a child in an automobile, comprising: 

a seat member including a seat back having a front surface and a rear 
surface, said seat back including a control rack formed with a 
plurality of generally vertically spaced engagement portions located 
on said rear surface to define a plurality of selected vertical 
positions; 

a head rest movably mounted on said seat back for vertical movement 
relative thereto; 

a locking mechanism mounted on said head rest for vertical movement 
therewith to engage said control rack to secure said head rest into 
one of the plurality of selected vertical positions, said locking 
mechanism including a lock bar that can be moved into engagement 
with a selected one of said engagement portions to fix said head rest 
in the corresponding selected vertical position; and 

harness belts extending vertically under said head rest from a position at an 
upper portion of said seat back and passing through at least one 
opening in said seat back below said head rest for positioning in 
front of said seat back, said harness belts being connected to said 
lock bar so that said harness belts will move vertically in response 
to a corresponding vertical movement of said head rest. 

23. The PTO issued U.S. Patent No. 8,123,294, entitled “Harness Storage System for 

Child Car Seats,” on February 28, 2012. A copy of the ’294 patent is attached as Exhibit C. 

24. The ’294 patent relates to a car seat for transporting children in an automobile and 

to a five-point harness storage system to allow converting the car seat from a car seat for small 

children to a belt-positioning booster for larger children. See Exhibit C, 1:15-19. 

25. The ’294 patent was originally assigned to Wonderland Nurserygoods Hong Kong 

Co., Ltd., and that assignment was recorded with the PTO on September 4, 2009. The ’294 patent 

was assigned from Wonderland Nurserygoods Hong Kong Co., Ltd. to Wonderland Nurserygoods 
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Co., Ltd., and that assignment was recorded with the PTO on November 21, 2018. The ’294 patent 

was assigned from Wonderland Nurserygoods Co., Ltd. to Wonderland Switzerland AG in an 

assignment recorded with the PTO on November 23, 2018.  

26. The ’294 patent includes four independent claims 1, 6, 12, and 13. Claim 6 is 

representative and recites: 

6. In a car seat having a seat back supported on a seat member and projecting 
upwardly therefrom, said seat member having a first portion of a rigid shell and a 
seat pad mounted on the rigid shell, said back rest having a second portion of a rigid 
shell on which a back panel pad and a head rest pad are supported, each of said 
back panel pad and said head rest pad being selectively removable from said rigid 
shell; and a harness including a pair of laterally spaced shoulder straps supported 
from said rigid shell, a pair of laterally spaced belt straps connected to said rigid 
shell, and a crotch strap connected to said rigid shell, said harness including a pair 
of latch members, each said latch member being connected to one of said shoulder 
straps and to a corresponding said belt strap, both said latch members being 
engagable with a harness buckle connected to said crotch strap, the improvement 
comprising: 

a harness storage cavity formed in said rigid shell and including a cover 
forming a smooth support when closed over said harness storage 
cavity, said harness storage cavity being sized to receive said latch 
members or said harness buckle, said shoulder straps and said belt 
straps are positionable behind said back panel pad and said head rest 
pad and against said rigid shell to permit said latch members or said 
harness buckle to be stored in said harness storage cavity with said 
shoulder straps and said belt straps projecting out of said harness 
storage cavity along said rigid shell. 

27. Wonderland has all rights, title, and interest to each of the ’117 patent, ’725 patent, 

and ’294 patent (collectively, “the patents-in-suit”), including the right to sue for infringement of 

each of the patents-in-suit. 

COUNT ONE 
(Patent Infringement of U.S. Patent 7,862,117) 

28. Wonderland realleges and incorporates by reference herein each of the preceding 

paragraphs. 

29. Defendant has made, used, sold, offered for sale, and imported into the United 

Case 1:18-cv-01990-RGA   Document 53   Filed 09/30/19   Page 7 of 89 PageID #: 1492



 
 

{01443435;v1 } 8 

States, and continues to do so, child car seats, including the Evenflo EveryStage Car Seat, that 

practices at least one claim of the ’117 patent. 

30. The Evenflo EveryStage Car Seat includes every element of at least claim 9 of the 

’117 patent. 

31. Independent claim 9 recites a car seat “for transporting a child in an automobile 

and having a seat back on which a head rest is mounted for generally vertical movement relative 

to said seat back said seat back including harness belts positionable for support of the child within 

said car seat, comprising.” The EveryStage Car Seat is designed to transport a child in a car and 

has a seat back with a head rest that moves vertically relative to the seat back mounted on the seat 

back. These features are apparent in the images of the EveryStage Car Seat on the Evenflo website 

(e.g., see image below). The seat back also has harness belts that can be positioned to support the 

child in the car seat. The head rest and seat back are in the product images (see example below) 

on Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-

seat#start=3. 

 

32. Independent claim 9 further recites “said seat back being formed with a pair of 
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laterally spaced openings therethrough.” On information and belief, the EveryStage Car Seat’s 

seat back has two openings spaced laterally apart. The harness straps in the product images on 

Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3 

are directed through a pair of laterally spaced openings in the seat back. 

33. Claim 9 recites “said head rest including a movable guide bar positioned in register 

with said openings and being vertically movable along said openings in response to a 

corresponding vertical movement of said head rest relative to said seat back, said movable guide 

bar member being operable to direct said harness belt through the openings in said seat back.” 

Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3 

shows the EveryStage Car Seat in at least three different configurations (“Infant,” “Convertible,” 

and “Booster”) (copied below), each having a different vertical head rest position. On information 

and belief, the head rest of the EveryStage Car Seat includes a movable guide bar that can be 

manually adjusted by a user by pushing a button and manually lifting, and is positioned in register 

with the pair of laterally spaced openings, where the guide bar moves vertically along the openings 

as the head rest moves vertically relative to the seat back, and directs the harness belt through the 

openings in the seat back. 
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34. Claim 9 requires “a fixed guide bar mounted in said seat back above said openings.” 

On information and belief, the EveryStage Car Seat also includes a fixed guide bar mounted in the 

seat back and above the openings, such that the harness belts of the EveryStage Car Seat on 

Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3, 

are wrapped over the fixed guide bar before they are extended forwardly of the seat back to engage 

with the child in the car seat. 

35. Claim 9 recites “said harness belts extending from an anchor point and being 

wrapped over said fixed guide bar and extending therefrom to said movable guide bar to be 

directed through said openings and extend forwardly of said seat back for engagement with the 

child in said car seat, such that the vertical movement of said movable guide bar redirects the 

positioning of the corresponding said harness belts.” On information and belief, the harness belt 

of the EveryStage Car Seat on Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-
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seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3, extends from an anchor point through the 

openings, and is wrapped over the fixed guide bar and extends forwardly from the seat back to 

engage with the child seated in the child seat. This allows the vertical movement of the movable 

guide bar to redirect the positioning of the harness belt of the EveryStage Car Seat on Evenflo’s 

above-identified website. 

36. By making, using, selling, offering for sale, and/or importing in the United States 

the EveryStage Car Seat, Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe at least one claim 

of the ’117 patent. 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

37. On information and belief, Defendant has taken and is continuing to take active 

steps to induce direct infringement by its direct and indirect customers of those claims under 35 

U.S.C. § 271(b) by making, selling, and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in the United 

States with knowledge of the ’117 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are specifically 

designed to operate in a vehicle seat in an infringing manner, knowing use of its EveryStage Car 

Seats by those customers constitutes direct infringement, and by intentionally encouraging 

infringement of the ’117 patent by those customers to take advantage of the sales of its EveryStage 

Car Seats. 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

38. Upon information and belief, Defendant is also inducing the infringement of one 

or more claims of the ’117 patent by its direct and indirect customers under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by 

providing instructions and/or assistance in the installation and/or operation of its EveryStage Car 

Seats in customers’ vehicle seats. 

39. On information and belief, Defendant has contributed and is continuing to 

contribute to the direct infringement of the claims of the ’117 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by 

selling and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in the United States with knowledge of 

Case 1:18-cv-01990-RGA   Document 53   Filed 09/30/19   Page 11 of 89 PageID #: 1496



 
 

{01443435;v1 } 12 

the ’117 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are specifically designed to operate as a material 

component in its direct and indirect customers’ vehicle seats in an infringing manner, and knowing 

use of its EveryStage Car Seats by those customers constitutes direct infringement. 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(c). 

40. Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seats are not staple articles of commerce, and there 

are no substantial noninfringing uses of Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat other than as a 

component in its direct and indirect customers’ vehicle seats to be used in an infringing manner, 

and that Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat constitutes a material component of the claimed 

invention because they are specifically designed to work with the vehicle seats and directly 

embody significant characteristics of the ’117 patent claims. 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

41. Despite Defendant’s knowledge of the ’117 patent and its infringing activities, 

Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe one or more claims of the ’117 patent by 

manufacturing, selling, and/or offering for sale additional EveryStage Car Seats. This intentional 

infringement without regard for Wonderland’s patent rights constitutes egregious conduct 

sufficient to establish willful infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

42. The ongoing and continuous infringement by Defendant of the ’117 patent entitles 

Wonderland to an injunction permanently enjoining Defendant from further infringing 

Wonderland’s patent rights, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

43. Wonderland has suffered and continues to suffer damages from Defendant’s 

infringement of the ’117 patent, and is entitled to compensation and other monetary relief to the 

extent allowed by law, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 284 and 285. 

COUNT TWO 
(Patent Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,087,725) 

44. Wonderland realleges and incorporates by reference herein each of the preceding 

Case 1:18-cv-01990-RGA   Document 53   Filed 09/30/19   Page 12 of 89 PageID #: 1497



 
 

{01443435;v1 } 13 

paragraphs. 

45. Defendant has made, used, sold, offered for sale, and imported into the United 

States, and continues to do so, child safety seats, including the Evenflo Every Stage Car Seat, that 

practice at least one claim of the ’725 patent. 

46. The Evenflo EveryStage Car Seat includes every element of at least independent 

claim 1 of the ’725 patent. 

47. Independent claim 1 recites a car seat “for transporting a child in an automobile.” 

The EveryStage is a car seat designed to transport a child in a car in the product images from 

Evenflo’s website http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3. 

 

48. Independent claim 1 further recites “a seat member including a seat back having a 

front surface and a rear surface, said seat back including a control rack formed with a plurality of 

generally vertically spaced engagement portions located on said rear surface to define a plurality 

of selected vertical positions.” The EveryStage Car Seat on Evenflo’s website 

http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3 includes a seat back 

with a front surface and a rear surface. On information and belief, the seat back also includes a 
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control rack formed with multiple vertically spaced engagement portions, such as metal rails with 

multiple preformed holes at a plurality of selected vertical positions, placed on the rear surface to 

define certain vertical positions. 

49. Independent claim 1 recites “a head rest movably mounted on said seat back for 

vertical movement relative thereto.” The EveryStage Car Seat has a head rest mounted on the seat 

back such that it moves vertically relative to the seat back on Evenflo’s website 

http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3. Evenflo’s website 

shows the EveryStage Car Seat in at least three different configurations (“Infant,” “Convertible,” 

and “Booster”), each having a different vertical head rest position. 

50. Independent claim 1 recites “a locking mechanism mounted on said head rest for 

vertical movement therewith to engage said control rack to secure said head rest into one of the 

plurality of selected vertical positions, said locking mechanism including a lock bar that can be 

moved into engagement with a selected one of said engagement portions to fix said head rest in 

the corresponding selected vertical position.” As noted above, Evenflo’s website 

http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3 shows the 

EveryStage Car Seat in at least three different configurations (“Infant,” “Convertible,” and 

“Booster”) (copied below), each having a different vertical head rest position. On information and 

belief, the EveryStage Car Seat’s head rest also includes a locking mechanism mounted in the 

head rest so that a user can manually move the head rest vertically and position it at a selected 

vertical position at which the locking mechanism engages with the control rack, such as to position 

a lock bar of the locking mechanism within a pair of holes preformed on a pair of metal rails at 

the desired vertical position, to secure the head rest into one of the multiple specific vertical 

positions. The locking mechanism includes a lock bar that can be moved to engage with the 
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engagement portions to set the head rest in the specific vertical position. 

 

51. Independent claim 1 recites “harness belts extending vertically under said head rest 

from a position at an upper portion of said seat back and passing through at least one opening in 

said seat back below said head rest for positioning in front of said seat back, said harness belts 

being connected to said lock bar so that said harness belts will move vertically in response to a 

corresponding vertical movement of said head rest.” Evenflo’s website 

http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3 shows the 

EveryStage Car Seat has harness belts that extend from below the head rest in front of the seat 

back. On information and belief, the EveryStage Car Seat harness belts extend vertically under the 

head rest from the upper portion of the seat back and pass through two openings in the seat back 

that are also below the head rest. The harness belts are also connected to the lock bar so that they 

move vertically in response to the movement of the head rest. 
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52. By making, using, selling, offering for sale, and/or importing into the United States 

the EveryStage Car Seat, Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe at least one claim 

of the ’725 patent. 35 U.S.C. § 271. 

53. On information and belief, Defendant has taken and is continuing to take active 

steps to induce direct infringement of those claims by its direct and indirect customers under 35 

U.S.C. § 271(b) by making, selling, and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in the United 

States with knowledge of the ’725 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are specifically 

designed to operate in a vehicle seat in an infringing manner, knowing use of its EveryStage Car 

Seats by those customers constitutes direct infringement, and by intentionally encouraging 

infringement of the ’725 patent by those customers to take advantage of the sales of its EveryStage 

Car Seats. 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

54. Upon information and belief, Defendant is also inducing the infringement of one 

or more claims of the ’725 patent by its direct and indirect customers under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by 

providing instructions and/or assistance in the installation and/or operation of its EveryStage Car 

Seats in those customers’ vehicle seats. 

55. On information and belief, Defendant has contributed and is continuing to 

contribute to the direct infringement of those claims of the ’725 patent by its direct and indirect 

customers under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by selling and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in 

the United States with knowledge of the ’725 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are 

specifically designed to operate as a material component in those customers’ vehicle seats in an 

infringing manner, and knowing use of its EveryStage Car Seats by those customers constitutes 

direct infringement. 

56. Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seats are not staple articles of commerce, and there 
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are no substantial noninfringing uses of Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat other than as a 

component in those customers’ vehicle seats to be used in an infringing manner, and that 

Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat constitutes a material component of the claimed invention 

because they are specifically designed to work with the vehicle seats and directly embody 

significant characteristics of the ’725 patent claims. 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

57. Despite Defendant’s knowledge of the ’725 patent and its infringing activities, 

Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe one or more claims of the ’725 patent by 

manufacturing, selling, and/or offering for sale additional EveryStage Car Seats. This intentional 

infringement without regard for Wonderland’s patent rights constitutes egregious conduct 

sufficient to establish willful infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

58. The ongoing and continuous infringement by Defendant of the ’725 patent entitles 

Wonderland to the entry of an injunction permanently enjoining Defendant from further infringing 

Wonderland’s patent rights, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

59. Wonderland has suffered and continues to suffer damages from Defendant’s 

infringement of the ’725 patent, and Wonderland is entitled to compensation and other monetary 

relief to the extent allowed by law, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 284 and 285. 

COUNT THREE 
(Patent Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,123,294) 

60. Wonderland realleges and incorporates by reference herein each of the preceding 

paragraphs. 

61. Defendant has made, used, sold, offered for sale, and/or imported into the United 

States, and continues to do so, child car seats, including the Evenflo EveryStage Car Seat, that 

practice at least one claim of the ’294 patent. 

62. The Evenflo EveryStage Car Seat includes every element of at least independent 
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claim 6 of the ’294 patent, literally or equivalently. 

63. Independent claim 6 recites a car seat “having a seat back supported on a seat 

member and projecting upwardly therefrom, said seat member having a first portion of a rigid 

shell and a seat pad mounted on the rigid shell, said back rest having a second portion of a rigid 

shell on which a back panel pad and a head rest pad are supported, each of said back panel pad 

and said head rest pad being selectively removable from said rigid shell; and a harness including 

a pair of laterally spaced shoulder straps supported from said rigid shell, a pair of laterally spaced 

belt straps connected to said rigid shell, and a crotch strap connected to said rigid shell, said 

harness including a pair of latch members, each said latch member being connected to one of said 

shoulder straps and to a corresponding said belt strap, both said latch members being engagable 

with a harness buckle connected to said crotch strap.” 

64. At http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3, 

Evenflo’s website shows the EveryStage Car Seat includes a seat back supported on a seat member 

and projecting upwardly from the seat member. The seat member has a rigid shell and a seat pad 

mounted on the rigid shell. The seat back has a portion that supports a back panel pad and a head 

rest pad, each removable from the rigid shell. The picture of the EveryStage Car Seat from 

Evenflo’s website below shows the EveryStage Car Seat also includes a harness having two 

laterally spaced shoulder straps supported by the rigid shell, two belt straps connected to the rigid 

shell, and a crotch strap also connected to the rigid shell. The harness includes two latch members, 

each of which is connected to one of the shoulder straps and a corresponding belt strap. The crotch 

strap also has a harness buckle connected to it. As the picture of the Evenflo Car Seat from the 

Evenflo website shows, both latch members are engageable with the harness buckle (with a red 

button for manually disengaging the latch members) connected to the crotch strap. 
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65. Independent claim 6 further recites “a harness storage cavity formed in said rigid 

shell and including a cover forming a smooth support when closed over said harness storage 

cavity, said harness storage cavity being sized to receive said latch members or said harness 

buckle, said shoulder straps and said belt straps are positionable behind said back panel pad and 

said head rest pad and against said rigid shell to permit said latch members or said harness buckle 

to be stored in said harness storage cavity with said shoulder straps and said belt straps projecting 

out of said harness storage cavity along said rigid shell.” 

66. At http://www.evenflo.com/car-seats/us_everystage.html?cgid=car-seat#start=3, 

Evenflo’s website shows the EveryStage Car Seat in at least three different configurations 

(“Infant,” “Convertible,” and “Booster”), where the Booster configuration shows the child seat 

without the harness in the seating area. On information and belief, the EveryStage Car Seat 

includes a harness storage cavity formed in the rigid shell and includes a cover, which forms a 

smooth support when the cover is closed over the harness storage cavity when the EveryStage Car 

Seat is in its Booster configuration on the Evenflo website. On information and belief, the harness 

storage cavity is sized to receive at least one of the latch members or the harness buckle, which 
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can be stored in the harness storage cavity, for example when the EveryStage Car Seat is in its 

Booster configuration. The shoulder straps and belt straps can be positioned behind the back panel 

pad and the head rest pad and against the rigid shell so at least one of the latch members or harness 

buckle can be stored in the harness storage cavity with the shoulder straps and belt straps 

projecting out of the harness storage cavity along the rigid shell. 

 

67. By making, using, selling, offering for sale, and/or importing into the United States 

the EveryStage Car Seat, Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe at least one claim 

of the ’294 patent. 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and/or (c). 

68. On information and belief, Defendant has taken and is continuing to take active 

steps to induce direct infringement of those claims by its direct and indirect customers under 35 

U.S.C. § 271(b) by making, selling, and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in the United 

States with knowledge of the ’294 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are specifically 

designed to operate in a vehicle seat in an infringing manner, knowing use of its EveryStage Car 

Seats by those customers constitutes direct infringement, and by intentionally encouraging 

infringement of the ’294 patent by those customers to take advantage of the sales of its EveryStage 
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Car Seats. 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

69. Upon information and belief, Defendant is also inducing the infringement of one 

or more claims of the ’294 patent by its direct and indirect customers under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by 

providing instructions and/or assistance in the installation and/or operation of its EveryStage Car 

Seats in customers’ vehicle seats. 

70. On information and belief, Defendant has contributed and is continuing to 

contribute to the direct infringement of the ’294 patent of those claims by its direct and indirect 

customers under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by selling and/or offering for sale its EveryStage Car Seats in 

the United States with knowledge of the ’294 patent, knowing its EveryStage Car Seats are 

specifically designed to operate as a material component in those customers’ vehicle seats in an 

infringing manner, and knowing use of its EveryStage Car Seats by those customers constitutes 

direct infringement. 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

71. Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seats are not staple articles of commerce, and there 

are no substantial noninfringing uses of Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seats other than as a 

component in those customers’ vehicle seats to be used in an infringing manner, and that 

Defendant’s EveryStage Car Seat constitutes a material component of the claimed invention 

because they are specifically designed to work with the vehicle seats and directly embody 

significant characteristics of the ’294 patent claims. 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

72. Despite Defendant’s knowledge of the ’294 patent and its infringing activities, 

Defendant has infringed and is continuing to infringe one or more claims of the ’294 patent by 

manufacturing, selling, and/or offering for sale additional EveryStage Car Seats. This intentional 

infringement without regard for Wonderland’s patent rights constitutes egregious conduct 

sufficient to establish willful infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284. 
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73. The ongoing and continuous infringement by Defendant of the ’294 patent entitles 

Wonderland to the entry of an injunction permanently enjoining Defendant from further infringing 

Wonderland’s patent rights, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

74. Wonderland has suffered and is continuing to suffer damages from Defendant’s 

infringement of the ’294 patent, and Wonderland is entitled to compensation and other monetary 

relief to the extent allowed by law, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 284 and 285. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Wonderland respectfully requests the Court enter judgment in its 

favor and against Defendant on the patent infringement claims set forth above and respectfully 

requests that this Court: 

(a) enter judgment that Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe at 

least one claim of the ’117 patent in violation of at least one of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c); 

(b) award Wonderland all available and legally permissible damages and relief 

sufficient to compensate Wonderland for Defendant’s infringement of the ’117 patent, including 

to the full extent permitted by 35 U.S.C. § 284, together with interest, in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

(c) declare Defendant’s infringement of the ’117 patent to be willful and award 

Wonderland treble damages in accordance with 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

(d) enter judgment that Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe at 

least one claim of the ’725 patent in violation of at least one of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c); 

(e) award Wonderland all available and legally permissible damages and relief 

sufficient to compensate Wonderland for Defendant’s infringement of the ’725 patent, including 

to the full extent permitted by 35 U.S.C. § 284, together with interest, in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 
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(f) declare Defendant’s infringement of the ’725 patent to be willful and award 

Wonderland treble damages in accordance with 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

(g) enter judgment that Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe at 

least one claim of the ’294 patent in violation of at least one of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), (b), and/or (c); 

(h) award Wonderland all available and legally permissible damages and relief 

sufficient to compensate Wonderland for Defendant’s infringement of the ’294 patent, including 

to the full extent permitted by 35 U.S.C. § 284, together with interest, in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

(i) declare Defendant’s infringement of the ’294 patent to be willful and award 

Wonderland treble damages in accordance with 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

(j) enter a permanent injunction against Defendant, barring and enjoining its 

further making, using, selling, offering for sale, and/or importing into the United States of all 

infringing products; 

(k) declare this to be an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. §§ 285 and 271(e)(4) 

and award Wonderland costs, expenses, and disbursements in this action, including reasonable 

attorney fees; and 

(l) award Wonderland such other and further relief as may be permitted and is 

appropriate at law or in equity. 

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Wonderland hereby 

respectfully requests a trial by jury on all issues triable of right by a jury. 
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